IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-1527

JOHNNY WILLIAMSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DIXIE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BRODY & HAZEN, P.A. Attorneys at Law P.O. Box 16515 Tallahassee, FL 32317

HARRY P. BRODY Florida Bar No. 0977860

JEFFREY M. HAZEN Florida Bar No. 0153060

Attorneys for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is from the denial of Appellant's motions for post-conviction relief by Circuit Court Judge E. Vernon Douglas, Third Judicial Circuit, Dixie County, Florida.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Appellant was indicted October 22, 1985 on one count each of first-degree murder and possession of contraband in a correctional facility. (R. 10) Appellant pled not quilty. (R. 946) The jury found Appellant quilty of both charges on April 9, 1986 (R. 838) The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 11-1 the following day. (R. 946) The trial court imposed the death sentence May 8, 1986. (R. 958) This Court affirmed Appellant's convictions and sentences. Williamson v. State, 511 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. Williamson v. Florida, 108 S.Ct. 1098 (1988). Under death warrant, Appellant filed his initial postconviction motion on November 6, 1989. (PC-R. 523-26) lower court held a limited evidentiary hearing and denied all relief. This Court affirmed the lower court's order as well as denying habeas corpus relief. Williamson v. Dugger, 651 So.2d 84 (Fla. 1994). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. Williamson v. Singletary, 116 S.Ct. 146 (1995). Appellant filed a federal Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Northern District Court of Florida on May 15, 1995. The petition was denied on

February 2, 1998. The 11th Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed that denial. <u>Williamson v. Moore</u>, 221 F.3d 1177 (11th Cir. 2000). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. <u>Williamson v. Moore</u>, 122 S.Ct. 234 (2001).

On January 2, 1997, Appellant filed a successor postconviction motion in the trial court alleging newly
discovered evidence involving trial witnesses Kenneth Baez
and Omer Williamson ("Omer"). On June 17, 2003, Appellant
filed a supplemental post-conviction motion based on the
United States Supreme Court opinion in Ring v. Arizona, 122
S.Ct. 2428 (2002). On August 12, 2003, Appellant filed a
second supplemental post-conviction motion regarding trial
witness Omer Williamson. The lower court conducted a Huff²
hearing as to the three pending motions on April 21, 2004.
The lower court granted an evidentiary hearing only as to
the second supplemental motion involving Omer Williamson.
That hearing was held July 28, 2004. Subsequent to the
evidentiary hearing, the lower court denied all relief in

Both the supplemental motion dated June 17, 2003 and that dated August 12, 2003 were intended to supplement the post-conviction motion dated January 2, 1997.

<u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

The evidentiary hearing was held in the Columbia County Courthouse where Judge Douglas sits. Two witnesses, Omer Williamson and his trial attorney, Baya Harrison, were

an order dated September 10, 2004.4 This appeal follows.

I. STATEMENT OF THE TRIAL FACTS

An indictment filed in the circuit court for Dixie

County on October 22, 1985, charged Appellant, Omer, and

James Robertson with first degree murder and the unlawful

possession of a knife while inmates at Cross City

Correctional Institution. (R. 1) Appellant pled not

guilty.

Appellant was tried from April 7-10, 1986, before the Honorable Judge Arthur Lawrence and found guilty of both counts. (R. 137) Omer had earlier pled guilty to first degree murder with the condition that he would be sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole for 25 years. (R. 582) Ostensibly, the state agreed with this plea and sentence on the condition that Omer cooperate with the state against Appellant and Robertson. (R. 581)

Robertson was found guilty only of the possession charge. (R. 838)

Appellant testified at the penalty phase. At the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury returned a

called as witnesses.

⁴The order denied relief as to the initial successive motion and the two supplemental successive motions.

recommendation of death by a vote of 11-1. (R. 138)

The trial court sentenced Appellant to death, finding three aggravating factors⁵ (R. 143-144) The Court found nothing in mitigation. (R. 150) The Court also sentenced Appellant to 15 years in prison for the possession conviction (R. 143) to be served concurrently with the death sentence. (Id.)

II. STATEMENT OF THE INITIAL POST-CONVICTION FACTS

Jack Green gave a sworn statement to Lt. W.J. Dixon, of the Cross City Correctional Institution's Investigator's office on July 16, 1988 (PC-R. 884). In that statement Green told authorities that Omer related to him that during the confrontation that took place on June 20, 1985, victim Daniel Drew pulled a knife, that Appellant took the knife away from Drew, that Omer hit Drew in the face, and that Appellant stuck Drew with the knife. (PC-R. 886) Green's name was known to counsel and he was available to testify at trial. (PC-R. 720)

At the hearing, Green testified that Drew made a move toward Appellant with a knife and that Appellant had

⁵These aggravating factors were: (1) committed while under sentence of imprisonment; (2) prior violent felony conviction and; (3) cold, calculated, and premeditated, without pretense of legal or moral justification. (R. 148-

nothing in his hand. (PC-R. 8-9)

Green's testimony that Drew lunged with a knife at a weaponless Appellant was known by the state, as Green testified that prison investigators interviewed him and knew of the information. (PC-R. 14) Additionally, Green testified as to Drew's reputation for retaliatory violence. (PC-R. 19-21) Further, Green testified that Drew invariably carried a knife while at Cross City C.I. (PC-R. 14) Obviously, Green completely contradicted Omer Williamson's trial testimony that Appellant planned and was the aggressor in Drew's death. Appellant testified at the penalty phase of his trial that he was aware of Drew's reputation for violence and had in fact received some of that information from Green (R. 881).

Trial counsel testified that Green's statement and testimony would have been helpful. (PC-R. 159) The second eyewitness to the stabbing incident was Michael Haager, who wrote a letter to Appellant's trial counsel:

Dear Mr. McKeever:

I read where Bama and Chickenhead got convicted in Dixie County for the 1985 killing of Drew at Cross City Correctional Institution. I know this conviction is a <u>miscarriage of justice</u> because I <u>seen for myself</u> what happened that Thursday afternoon behind the

carpenter shop where I work. I had spoken earlier in the day with Drew, he told me Bama and that tall guy(Jim I think his name is) owed him some money and after draw he was going to get paid, he showed me a knife he made (a Sharpened Butter Knife). I know he made knives for other guys but that's eleravant (sic). That afternoon they argued behind the Carpenter shop when Drew pulled out his knife with his left hand, when Bama got the chance he took the knife away from him or got hold of his arm and they went closer to the wall out of my vision, I couldn't see what happened back there because I was looking thru the fan grill from inside my shop. When they left I came out of the shop going to the entrance of maintenance when another inmate came around the corner and said loud get the M.T.'s a man is stabbed back here. I went around there and seen Drew against the wall trying to get up, I tried to calm him and got a piece of plywood from my shop layed him down and pulled his pants off and applied pressure on the wound in his leg, I didn't know he had been hit in the back until blood started coming out of his mouth, when I started to turn him on his side to clear his breathing the M.T. and Doctor arrived, they started checking his pause (sic), and giving him respiration...

No one has ever questioned me about this...

Please view the drawing. I would make a formal statement if you request it. I'll even take a polygraph test.

Sincerely

Drawing enclosed Michael Haager

(PC-R. 847-49). Haager was an additional eyewitness to the critical initial stages of the fight (PC-R. 307-08), and he was not contacted by Appellant's trial counsel (PC-R. 312). In fact, Haager was subpoenaed to trial by co-defendant Robertson and brought back to Cross City for the trial (PC-

R. 313-14).

At the evidentiary hearing, Haager testified to the substance of the letter he wrote to trial counsel. (PC-R. 306-07) A third eyewitness to the incident, Paul Williams, testified that:

One of the weapons was a long instrument is all I could see, cause I wasn't that close to them. The other was a short wide blade knife, which the inmate knocked out of DREW'S hand. He's the one that had that one, and was stabbing him with his own knife.

(PC-R. 1055)(emphasis added). Williams further stated: "In fact, I think the day when he got stabbed he told me that night before he anticipated some trouble out of these people cause they wouldn't pay him his money, . . ." (PC-R. 1058)(emphasis added). Williams was never interviewed by trial counsel (PC-R. 104). Charles Jones testified at the evidentiary hearing that Drew was expecting trouble in collecting his money from Omer on the day of the stabbing incident and that as a result of that expected trouble, Drew made himself a shank from a table knife. (PC-R. 187-88) The knife was made by Drew to protect himself, not to give to Omer or Appellant as Omer claimed. (Id.)

Jones also testified at the hearing that knives were

plentiful at Cross City Correctional Institution. (PC-R. 188) Jones was also well aware of Drew's reputation and that Drew would not back down from a confrontation (PC-R. 189, 191).

Jones was available to trial counsel. (PC-R. 719-20, 725), but trial counsel never spoke with him. (PC-R. 190) Trial counsel had no explanation, strategic or otherwise, for this failure. (PC-R. 107)

On October 18, 1989, co-defendant Robertson gave an affidavit confirming he had written a statement and an affidavit describing the events surrounding the June 20, 1985, incident. The affidavit states:

- I, JAMES ROBERTSON, BEING DULY SWORN OR AFFIRMED DO HEREBY DEPOSE AND SAY:
- 1. MY NAME IS JAMES ROBERTSON AND I AM PRESENTLY INCARCERATED AT FLORIDA STATE PRISON.
- 2. I WAS INCARCERATED AT CROSS CITY CORRECTIONAL INSTITUTION DURING THE MONTH OF JUNE, 1985.
- 3. AFTER THE ALTERCATION BETWEEN DREW, JOHNNY WILLIAMSON, AND OMER WILLIAMSON, I OF COURSE WAS INDICTED.
- 4. DURING THIS TIME I WROTE A STATEMENT COVERING MY KNOWLEDGE OF WHAT HAPPENED BETWEEN JUNE 19, 1985 AND JUNE 20, 1985. EVERYTHING IN THIS STATEMENT, WHICH IS ATTACHED TO THE AFFIDAVIT, IS TRUE EXCEPT FOR THE PART ABOUT JOHNNY WILLIAMSON HANDING ME THE KNIFE. TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE JOHNNY HANDED THE KNIFE TO STEPHEN MARK BISHOP. BISHOP THEN WENT AND BURIED

THE KNIFE. I NEVER TOUCHED OR SAW THE KNIFE. I PUT THE FALSE INFORMATION BECAUSE I KNEW THAT BISHOP WAS GOING TO TESTIFY AGAINST ME AND MORE IMPORTANTLY, I WAS FACING A MURDER TRIAL.

- 5. ADDITIONALLY, I FELT THAT THE STATE ATTORNEY WOULD PUT ON OTHER WITNESSES THAT WOULD LIE LIKE BISHOP DID. ONLY THEY WOULD LIE ABOUT MY BEING INVOLVED IN THE MURDER. I BELIEVED THAT THE JURY WOULD THINK I WAS INVOLVED IN ONE WAY OR THE OTHER AND I FIGURE BISHOP'S LIE WOULD BE TO MY BEST ADVANTAGE.
- 6. MOST OF ALL, I MADE OUT THE STATEMENT BECAUSE I WANTED TO TESTIFY BUT MY ATTORNEY SAID THAT IF I WAS GOING TO TESTIFY I HAVE TO GIVE THEM SOMETHING. HE ADVISED ME TO GO ALONG WITH BISHOP'S LIE ABOUT THE KNIFE. ADDITIONALLY, JOHNNY WILLIAMSON TOLD ME AT LEAST A DOZEN TIMES THAT HE WANTED TO TESTIFY AT HIS TRIAL, DURING THE GUILT PHASE.
- 7. JOHNNY WILLIAMSON NEVER ASKED ME FOR A KNIFE, TO LOOK FOR A KNIFE, OR ANYTHING ABOUT A KNIFE AT ALL. THAT WAS TOTALLY OMER WILLIAMSON'S STORY. I DID NOT KNOW EITHER OF THE WILLIAMSON'S VERY WELL, ONLY KNOWING THEM FROM WORK.

(PC-R. 906-08)

Robertson's pre-trial statement, referred to in the affidavit, states importantly that the night prior to the killing, Robertson witnessed Omer and Drew arguing in a prison common area. (PC-R. 910-11Appellant testified at his penalty phase. (PC-R. 1166-214)⁶ Appellant testified he met Omer at Cross City Correctional Institution and became friends with him because they had the same last names. (R.

A transcript of Appellant's trial testimony was

Omer did not disclose he owed Drew \$40 (not \$15, as Omer stated), until June 20, 1985. (R. 880) Omer told Appellant that Drew had given Omer eight bags of marijuana and that Omer did not have the money to pay Drew. (R. 880) Appellant testified he was fully aware of Drew's reputation for violence with a knife, not only through Green, but from Drew also. (R. 881) Appellant told Omer that Drew would not stand for Omer's refusal to pay, hoping that Omer would decide to pay his debt. (R. 882) After pleading with Omer to pay Drew, Omer told Appellant he would be getting some money on Saturday and would pay Drew at that time.

Appellant agreed to go with Omer to talk to Drew on Omer's behalf and ask Drew to allow Omer until Saturday to pay the debt. (R. 884)

Appellant testified he went to see Drew on Omer's behalf, and did so in broad daylight, in front of witnesses, because he had nothing to hide. (R. 890) Mr. Bannister testified at the evidentiary hearing that most people were still working at the time Appellant and Omer approached Drew as only the paint crew quit at 3:30. (PC-R. 323) As Appellant stated he did not attempt to hide, and indeed asked another inmate, Mr. Harris, to ask for Drew.

(R. 891)

What occurred on that afternoon of June 20, 1985, was described by Appellant:

- Q. All right. And when Drew came out, what happened.
- A. He come out and we exchanged just normal everyday pleasantries. . .You know, I hadn't seen him that day, because he lived over in F dorm and I lived in B dorm. And I didn't get up till 9:00 o'clock, so I hadn't had no opportunity to see him. But he said, "What's up?" I said, "I just come over to talk to you about old Jimmy here." He said, "Yeah?". And he give Jimmy one of them what-is-he-doing- here looks. You know what I mean? You would have to know Drew personally, when he was living, to appreciate what I'm saying. He had a way of looking at you. If he didn't like you, you could see the disapproval right quick on his face.
- Q. Did you know if Jimmy had a weapon with him or not?
- A. No, sir, I didn't.
- O. Did you have a weapon with you?
- A. No, sir.
- Q. What happened next?
- A. Well, you know, it's going fairly fast the talk did. Drew said, "Well, what's up?" I said, "Listen. Jimmy, for some reason or another, ain't got your money," you know. I just didn't want to come out and tell Drew that he had been smoking all your dope up. So I said, "He ain't got your dough." I said, "But he can have it by Saturday or Sunday." I said, "Why don't you give him a little slack there?"

He said, "I can't give him no slack Bama." He

said, "I got gambling debts to pay." He owed about \$300 or \$400 on that yard for that card playing. I said, "You can stall them other guys."

He said, "I'm not going to stall nobody." He said, "I don't stall people. And I don't want people stalling me." But he is not sounding angry at me. He is just explaining himself, and he is cutting his eyes at Jimmy, you know.

Well, I noticed Drew had his whole hand in his pocket. Well, I didn't know it at the time, but him and Jimmy had had words the night before.

And I hadn't been told about this by Jimmy, and I hadn't seen Drew. I am sure Drew would have mentioned it to me. But, anyway, I know Drew is left-handed too.

But that hand was riding high. A man don't stand with his hand riding high unless he has got it on something . .

And I tell Drew, I said, "Look Drew-" I see Drew don't like this idea of having to wait two or three days. I says, you know, I said, "I got a little money out at my cell." I said, "But I have got some other business to tend to." So I'm going to throw a pacifier in there. I said, "Look here, let me give you this here \$5." And I offered him \$5. I said, "I realize it won't cover the debt or nothing." But I said, "Jimmy is going to have to pay me back too now." I am trying to make it look like Jimmy owed me and you both now, so he is going to pay us.

Well, Drew said, "All right. I'll take it, Bama." I said, "You know you don't need that thing in your pocket there anyway." I was just jacking with him then, you know, because I see Drew starting to get in a good mood, I'm thinking. But when I said that there, Jimmy said, "What's that he got in his pocket?" I says, "It ain't nothing." And as far as I was concerned, at that very moment, the conversation was terminated. I was ready to go, which I would

see Drew later on in the evening. We would get together and smoke a joint or something and talk a little bit more.

I turn like this here, Wham! Jimmy got off on Drew. When he did-

THE WITNESS: Your Honor, if I might, can I stand up and explain this here?

THE COURT: Yes.

THE WITNESS: See, I had turned like this here. I am ready to go on. Ba-wham! And, naturally, I turned. When I turned, <u>Drew came out with that thing. I think that's at the time I got my hand cut</u>. I'm going to reach for that arm like that (indicating), like that wrist, <u>that left hand</u>, and come up with this here, because it's time for me to fight. Because I don't know Jimmy has got a knife, see. I don't know nothing about that so-called rod that they put in here, which I would like to explain.

I go like that there to bang him. I guess the tip of it hit my hand. I got him like that there. And I remember hitting him with the left hand and - (Witness pausing.)

Excuse me. Anyway - (Witness crying.) Excuse me.

BY MR. McKEEVER:

- Q. Do you remember the details of what happened then?
- A. I had to get excuse me -hold of that knife. I must have got hold of it. Basically, the next thing I remember, I hear my nickname, "Bama". And I look. (Witness crying.) I look. I get up. I was on top of Drew. Excuse me.

(PC-R. 892-896).

Appellant had this to add during cross-examination by the state:

- A. Well, let me tell you something. I ain't lying. I ain't lying. I told Dan McKeever this same thing that I'm saying today on this thing six months ago, when I first met him. I ain't lying. And what bothers me is I killed my friend.
- Q. That's right. You killed your friend, didn't you?
- A. I killed him. I killed him. But I didn't go over there premeditating to kill him.
- Q. Now your memory is admittedly very poor that day, isn't it?
- A. Hmm, it's not poor up to the time the fight went down and then, obviously, what did happen disturbed me to the point that I got a little bit hazy. But I remember sketches of that.
- Q. It's not poor up until the time when the killing and then, all of a sudden, your memory gets very poor; is that what you're saying?
- A. I know I had to fight the man. I remember snatching at his wrist. I remember that there.

(PC-R. 904-906).

- Q. So you were sort of keen on it. You were on edge. You know that there was something wrong. Is that what you are saying?
- A. I knew he probably had a knife in his pocket. It didn't worry me because he wasn't after me.
- Q. Uh-huh. But your instincts, as it were, were alert; is that right?
- A. Naturally, Naturally.

- Q. Yet you still couldn't avoid this killing, could you?
- A. I went over there as intermediary.
- Q. Would you answer the question. You still couldn't avoid this killing, could you?
- A. No, not after Jimmy got up off of him and I seen that blade coming out of Drew's, I don't reckon I could. It happened.

 $(PC-R. 904-911).^7$

Mr. Bannister was an employee at Cross City

Correctional Institution, the immediate supervisor of

Appellant, and a grand juror responsible for indicting

Appellant. The state's theory via Omer's testimony was

that there was a "plan" to meet with Drew after everybody

was gone. However, Bannister testified at the evidentiary

hearing that at 3:30 p.m. on the afternoon of the stabbing

Appellant's testimony demonstrates a clear case of self-defense. His description of the fight demonstrates that Drew came at him with a knife, that he was cut with that knife, that he felt he had to fight back. description of the fight is consistent with the testimony of the hearing witnesses as to the beginning of the fight There was absolutely no evidence that Appellant had an opportunity to retreat after getting the knife from Drew. In fact, the evidence clearly establishes that the struggle between Appellant and Drew continued. Appellant was in fear for his life. Trial counsel testified that Appellant consistently expressed that fear to him (PC-R. 134). Appellant's testimony is also consistent with the new evidence from Sanchez-Velasco and Omer that there was no premeditated plan, or any plan, for Appellant to kill Daniel Drew.

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