#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

HNNY WILLIAMSON,
Appellant,
TE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRD JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DIXIE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300
COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

Williamson asserts a newly discovered evidence claim based on the postconviction motion of one of the State's main witnesses in this case. Omer Williamson, who testified for the state in exchange for a life sentence, filed a postconviction motion claiming his plea was involuntary. However, Omer Williamson reaffirmed his trial testimony at the evidentiary hearing. Omer Williamson has not recanted his trial testimony. This Court has repeatedly held that when a State's witness reaffirms his trial testimony at the evidentiary hearing, a new trial is not warranted. The trial court properly denied this claim following an evidentiary hearing.

Williamson also asserts the trial court the improperly denied him an evidentiary hearing on a claim of newly discovered evidence based on an affidavit from a capital defendant, now deceased Sanchez-Velasco, which stated that the codefendant, Omer Williamson, made a statement that could be interpreted to mean that he was the sole perpetrator. First, as the trial court found, this claim of newly discovered evidence is time barred. Moreover, Sanchez-Velasco, in effect, retracted and disowned his affidavit when he refused to testify at the

deposition to perpetuate his testimony. The trial court granted collateral counsel's emergency motion to perpetuate testimony prior to Sanchez-Velasco's execution but Sanchez-Velasco refused to testify. The trial court properly refused to consider Sanchez-Velasco's affidavit in light of his reputation of it. The trial court correctly ruled that the affidavit was hearsay that would not be admissible at any retrial. There is no hearsay exception that covers the affidavit and therefore, it would not be admissible at trial. Newly discovered evidence must be admissible at a retrial to warrant granting a new trial. The trial court properly denied this claim without holding an evidentiary hearing. The trial court properly denied the successive postconviction motion.

## ARGUMENT ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENY THE NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE CLAIM FOLLOWING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING? (Restated)

Williamson asserts a newly discovered evidence claim based on the postconviction motion of one of the State's main witnesses in this case. Omer Williamson, who testified for the state in exchange for a life sentence, filed a postconviction motion claiming his plea was involuntary. However, Omer Williamson reaffirmed his trial testimony at the evidentiary hearing. Omer Williamson has not recanted his trial testimony. This Court has repeatedly held that when a State's witness reaffirms his trial testimony at the evidentiary hearing, a new trial is not warranted. The trial court properly denied this claim following an evidentiary hearing.

## Standard of review

The standard of review for a newly discovered evidence claim is abuse of discretion. *Mills v. State*, 786 So.2d 547, 549 (Fla. 2001)(stating "absent an abuse of discretion, a trial court's decision on a motion based on newly discovered evidence will not be overturned on appeal."). The trial court did not abuse its discretion. The trial court conducted a full

\ F\\

evidentiary hearing on one of the claims even though it was a successive 3.851 motion.

### The trial court's ruling

In his final motion for relief, Williamson argues that newly discovered evidence "thoroughly discredit[s]" Omer's trial testimony and that Williamson must be given a new trial. This Court granted an evidentiary hearing on this claim.

Williamson's August 12, 2003 supplemental motion relies upon a Rule 3.850 motion filed by Omer on July 10, 1993, in support of his claim that Omer's plea had been coerced by threats and fear for his life, and that he had given false testimony about whether the murder had been committed pursuant to a "plan." Initially, the Court notes that Williamson waited more than 10 years to present this basis for relief to the Court. Absent any explanation for the delay, the claim must be deemed time barred. E.g., Mills v. State, supra; Bolender v. State, 658 So.2d 736, 839 (Fla. 1996) (burden to allege and prove due diligence rests upon the defense); Swafford v. State, 679 So.2d 736, 739 (Fla. 1996)(defendant bears burden to prove that "his untimely and successive motion for postconviction relief was filed within two years of the time when Lestz's statement could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence"); Swafford v. State, 828 So.2d 966 (2002)(affirming denial of relief on ground that Swafford had failed to demonstrate that his postconviction counsel could not, in the exercise of due diligence, have earlier discovered his alleged new evidence). Aside from being time-barred, the claim is meritless.

\ 7 /\

The testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing fails to support the claim that Omer's trial testimony

is now so discredited that he probably would be acquitted on a retrial.

Initially, the Court notes that it is not newly discovered evidence that Omer received the benefit of a lesser, life sentence and avoided the possibility of a death sentence by entering his guilty plea and agreeing to testify. This fact was disclosed at trial and explored by Williamson's trial counsel in his cross-examination of Omer. Omer's testimony fails to support the claim that he was the subject of any improper threats or other misconduct to obtain his plea. His testimony that his trial counsel negotiated the plea without discussing the matter beforehand with Omer is contradicted by the testimony of his trial counsel, Baya Harrison, whose testimony this Court finds more credible on this matter. But even if Omer had no foreknowledge of the plea negotiations, as he still insists, it is clear from the record and from the testimony presented at this hearing that Omer nevertheless voluntarily pled guilty. Further, this Court finds that no one told him what to say in his testimony at trial, other than simply to tell the truth, which Omer insists that he did. Omer acknowledged at the hearing that he had alleged in his 3.850 motion that "at no time did the defendant, Omer James Williamson, of his own free will, participate, plan, or commit the act of murder upon Daniel Inman Drew" (PC 49). Williamson cites this allegation in support of his argument that there was no "plan" and the murder was therefore unpremeditated. The initial difficulty with this argument is that the allegation does not directly say there was no plan, but only that Omer did not willingly participate in it. Secondly, Omer explained that he had been angry when he had filed the motion, and that this allegation was false (PC 49). His firm, unwavering testimony at the evidentiary hearing was that there was a plan to murder Drew, and that, notwithstanding his earlier denial, he had willingly participated in that plan. This Court finds Omer's testimony in this regard to be credible and persuasive.

Omer's 3.850 motion would not be substantively admissible at any retrial. At best, it might be

admissible to impeach by inconsistent statements. However, newly-discovered evidence that is merely impeaching generally is insufficient to entitle a defendant to a new trial. Williamson v. Dugger, supra, 651 So.2d at 89; Buenoano v. State, 708 So.2d 941, 951 (Fla. 1998). Here, Omer was impeached at Thus, his allegations in his 3.850 motion are, at best, no more than cumulative impeachment that is insufficient to warrant a new trial. The trial evidence was overwhelming that Williamson stabbed Drew repeatedly while Omer held him. Williamson's own statements and the testimony of numerous witnesses aside from Omer establish that Omer's testimony that the killing had been planned in advance was corroborated by testimony from Baez that Williamson had sought to obtain a weapon in advance. Additionally, this Court finds that the brutality and "deliberate ruthlessness" of this killing was itself sufficient to demonstrate a premeditated intent to kill. See Bonifay v. State, 680 So.2d 413, 418-19 (Fla. 1996)(that a defendant's conduct exhibits "deliberate ruthlessness" supports finding of heightened premeditation). This Court finds that the newly discovered evidence presented by Williamson at this hearing, considered alone or cumulatively, is not "of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial." Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991).

(PC Vol. I 22-25).

#### Time bar

This claim is time barred. *Glock v. Moore*, 776 So.2d 243, 251 (Fla. 2001)(noting that "any claim of newly discovered evidence in a death penalty case must be brought within one year of the date such evidence was discovered or could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence."). Omer

\ 7 F\

Williamson's pro se 3.850 motion was filed on July 14, 1993. (PC II 12-41). Judge Peach denied Omer Williamson' pro se 3.850 motion as untimely on January 27, 1994. (PC II 66-67). Collateral counsel's successive motion raising a newly discovered evidence claim based on Omer Williamson' pro se 3.850 motion was filed on August 12, 2003, over ten years later. Collateral counsel did not establish, or even aver in his pleadings, when he obtained Omer Williamson's postconviction motion. Even in the face of the trial court's ruling that the claim was time barred, collateral counsel makes no argument regarding the timing of obtaining Omer Williamson's postconviction motion or attempt to explain the ten year delay in his brief.

# Merits

In Jones v. State, 709 So.2d 512 (Fla.1998), the Florida Supreme Court addressed the two-prong test for determining whether a conviction should be set aside on the basis of newly discovered evidence: (1) to be considered newly discovered, the evidence "must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known [of it] by

\ 77 \

the use of diligence, and (2) the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. To reach this conclusion the trial court is required to consider all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible at trial and then evaluate the weight of both the newly discovered evidence and the evidence which was introduced at the trial. *Jones*, 709 So.2d at 521.

In considering the second prong, the trial court should initially consider whether the evidence would have been admissible at trial or whether there would have been any evidentiary bars to its admissibility. Once this is determined, an evaluation of the weight to be accorded the evidence includes whether the evidence goes to the merits of the case or whether it constitutes impeachment evidence. The trial court should also determine whether the evidence is cumulative to other evidence in the case. The trial court should further consider the materiality and relevance of the evidence and any inconsistencies in the newly discovered evidence.

Lightbourne v. State, 841 So.2d 431, 440 (Fla. 2003).

Williamson does not meet the requirements for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence established in *Jones* and *Lightbourne*. Omer Williamson's allegations of ineffectiveness

and involuntariness of <u>his</u> plea are irrelevant to this trial and conviction. Most of the allegations in Omer Williamson's postconviction motion related to the voluntariness of his plea, not the truthfulness of his trial testimony in this case.<sup>4</sup> None

Another of his allegation was that his lawyer, Harrison, started plea negotiations without his knowledge. (PC Lawyers may start plea negotiations without their Vol. IV 9). client's knowledge or consent. Defendants do not have a constitutional right to be informed of every step of plea negotiations. A lawyer is only required to inform his client of the final plea offer. Cottle v. State, 733 So.2d 963, 966-67 (Fla. 1999)(holding that failure to inform a client of a plea constitute ineffective offer can assistance of American Bar Association Standards for Criminal Justice as confirmation that the failure to notify clients of plea offers falls below professional standards. See, e.g., Lloyd, 373 S.E.2d at 2. The ABA standards ABA Standards for Criminal Justice: Prosecution Function and Defense Function, stds. 4-6.2(b)(3d ed.1993)(requiring defense attorneys to "promptly communicate and explain to the accused all significant plea proposals made by the prosecutor." and the commentary to standard 4-6.2 states: Because plea discussions are usually held without the accused

\ 7 I \

of the allegations in Omer Williamson's postconviction motion related to the voluntariness of his plea. While the trial court properly denied the motion as untimely, it was also meritless. For example, one of the allegations is that his plea was coerced because the prosecutor only give him five minutes to decide whether to accept the plea deal or not. is not coercion. United States v. Torres-Rosario, - F.3d -, 2006 WL 1216655 (1 $^{\rm st}$  Cir. May 08, 2006)(rejecting a motion to withdraw a plea where prosecutor gave defendant only 15 minutes to consider the plea offer because prosecutor's haste while "perhaps distasteful", was not wrongdoing and observing: "[t]he hard reality is that plea bargaining in criminal cases is not for the delicate minded."). Plea bargaining in criminal cases is not for the delicate minded. Prosecutors may set time limits on their plea offers, including time limits of only several minutes.

being present, the lawyer has the duty to communicate fully to the client the substance of the discussions. ... It is important that the accused be informed both of the existence and the content of proposals made by the prosecutor); Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.171(c)(2) (mandating that counsel advise of "(A) all plea offers; and (B) all pertinent matters bearing on the choice of which plea to enter"). Moreover, the failure to be informed of start of plea negotiations does not render his plea It was a situation of multiple defendants which involuntary. means you have to beat the other side to the State Attorney's Office to cut a deal to save your client's life. (PC Vol. IV 67). He was trying to beat the other side to the prosecutor's office to cut a deal before anyone else did. (PC Vol. IV 67-68). "You don't have to be a genius lawyer to figure out you've got to cut a pretty quick deal, which is what we did" (PC Vol. IV An attorney in this situation must act quickly or there will be no plea offer to inform his client of.

Another allegations was that the prosecutor told him if he did not accept the plea deal, he would be facing death. (PC Vol. IV 25-26). This is not coercion; it is reality. This is merely an accurate statement of the prosecutor's intention to seek the death penalty and the actual consequences of rejecting the plea offer.

United States v. Kaczynski, 239 F.3d 1108, 1115-1116 (9th Cir. 2001)(finding guilty plea voluntary where defendant plead guilty in exchange for the government's giving up its intent to seek the death penalty and observing being forced to choose between unpleasant alternatives is not unconstitutional). A person who holds the victim while another person stabs the victim in accordance with a preexisting plan certainly may be sentenced to death without violating the Enmund/Tison doctrine. Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982); Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. 137, 107 S.Ct. 1676, 95 L.Ed.2d 127 (1987)(holding that a sentence of death in the felony murder context can be imposed if the defendant is a major participant in the felony and the defendant's state of mind amounts to a reckless indifference to human life). Omer Williamson was a major participant with a reckless indifference to human life. Moreover, the Enmund/Tison doctrine does not apply to this crime because this was a premeditated plan to murder. Pearce v. State, 880 So.2d 561, 575 (Fla. 2004)(explaining that where there is substantial, competent evidence to uphold a conviction under a premeditation theory, Enmund/Tison is not applicable).

\ 7 1 \

of this would be admissible as impeachment in a retrial. It is not relevant impeachment. The voluntariness of Omer's plea is a legal issue for the judge who accepted his plea to determine, not a fact question for the jury in this case. The only issue that is relevant in this case is whether Omer Williamson lied

He felt he would be killed if he did not testify. (PC Vol. IV 33). It is not clear whether he means by the his codefendants or by the State. It makes no sense if he is referring to the codefendants. It was only by testifying against the his codefendants that he gave them a motive for wanting to kill him - either prior to trial to prevent his testimony or after trial as revenge for testifying against them. It was accepting the plea, not rejecting it that he became a possible target of his codefendants. If he means that the State would kill him by seeking and obtaining the death penalty, this is not coercion either.

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